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. Background

This proceeding was instituted on January 28, 2005 by the filing of a Complaint by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA” or “Complainant™) pursuant to Section
14(a) of the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (“FIFRA”), 7 U.S.C. § 136l(a),
against the Respondent Martex Farms, Inc. The Complaint charges the Respondent with 338
counts of violating FIFRA’s “Worker Protection Standard” (WPS), consisting of a set of
regulations codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 170, which are “designed to reduce the risks of illness or
injury resulting from workers’ and handlers’ occupational exposures to pesticides used in the
production of agricultural plants on farms . . . and also from the accidental exposure of workers
and other persons to such pesticides” and which “requires workplace practices designed to
reduce or eliminate exposure to pesticides and establishes procedures for responding to
exposure-related emergencies.” 40 C.F.R. 8§ 170.1. Those regulations were promulgated by
EPA to implement Section 12(a)(2)(G) of FIFRA, 7 U.S.C. 8 136j(a)(2)(G), which makes it
“unlawful for any person . . . to use any registered pesticide in a manner inconsistent with its
labeling.™

In its Answer to the Complaint, dated March 3, 2005, Respondent advised that its correct
name is Martex Farms, S.E., as it is a “special partnership” registered in the Commonwealth of
Puerto Rico. It further denied the violations alleged, asserted several “affirmative defenses,” and
requested a hearing.

Respondent, Martex Farms, S.E., (“Respondent” or “Martex’”) owns and operates a
number of agricultural establishments? in Puerto Rico on which it engages in the business of
commercially growing agricultural plants such as mangoes, bananas, palms, avocados, plantains,
and ornamentals. Included among those facilities are its farm known as “Coto Laurel” located at
Road No. 511, Km 1.0, Bo. Real Anon, Ponce, Puerto Rico, where it grows primarily mangos,
and its “Jauca,” farm located at Road No. 1, Km 96.2, Santa Isabel, Puerto Rico, where it grows
various fruits and ornamental plants. At such establishments, Respondent employs persons
called agricultural “workers,” who perform production activities, such as picking the fruits and
vegetables, and also employs persons called pesticide “handlers,” who mix, load, transfer, and
apply the pesticides used in its production process.®

! Section 2(s) of FIFRA, 7 U.S.C. § 136(s), defines a “person” as “any individual, partnership,
association, corporation, or any organized group of persons whether incorporated or not.”

2 The term “agricultural establishment” is defined in 40 C.F.R. § 170.3 as “any farm, forest,
nursery or greenhouse.” The parties stipulated that Respondent has a “proprietary interest” in
the farms. The term “proprietary interest” is defined as “the interest of an owner of property
together with all rights appurtenant thereto.” Black’s Law Dictionary at 637 (Abridged 5" ed.
1983).

® The term “handler” is defined in 40 C.F.R. § 170.3 as any person “(1) Who is employed for any
(continued...)



Respondent, in connection with its agricultural production, utilizes various pesticides
including Boa, ClearOut 41 Plus (“ClearOut”), Kocide 101 (“Kocide™), and Trilogy 90EC
(“Trilogy”). Each of those pesticides is registered with EPA and has an EPA-approved label
setting forth specific directions regarding its use. Stipulations { 22. Relevant here, the
“Agricultural Use Requirements” sections of those labels state: “Use this product only in
accordance with its labeling and the Worker Protection Standard at 40 CFR Part 170.”
Stipulations 24, 26, 30, 31.

The record reflects that on April 26, 2004, at the Jauca facility, Respondent’s pesticide
handlers applied ClearOut to two fields, applied Kocide to eight fields, applied Boa to three
fields, and applied Trilogy to four fields. Complaint and Answer 1 81, 97. Between March 29,
2004 and April 26, 2004, Respondent’s pesticide handlers applied ClearOut to fields at its Jauca
facility at least fifty-seven times, designated in the Complaint and Answer as Application
numbers 1, 2, 6-8, 10, 11, 13, 15, 17, 18, 20, 23, 25, 30, 34, 36, 40, 44-46, 48, 50, 55, 58, 60, 68-
72,74, 76, 82-84, 86-88, 90, 94, 95, 99, 103, 111, 112, 119, 120, 127, 128, 133, 136, 137, 144,
145, 150 and 151. Complaint and Answer 1 56, 71. On April 21, 2004, Respondent applied
Kocide to the JC-11 mango field at its Jauca facility. Complaint and Answer { 61; Stipulations
25.

On April 26, 2004, authorized inspectors from the Puerto Rico Department of Agriculture
(PRDA), along with EPA personnel, conducted WPS inspections of Respondent’s Jauca and
Coto Laurel facilities, and found violations of the WPS requirements.* PRDA inspectors
conducted a follow-up inspection on July 20, 2004.

¥(...continued)

type of compensation by an agricultural establishment or commercial pesticide handling
establishment to which subpart C of this part applies and who is: (i) Mixing, loading,
transferring, or applying pesticides. (ii) Disposing of pesticides or pesticide containers. (iii)
Handling opened containers of pesticides. (iv) Acting as a flagger. (v) Cleaning, adjusting,
handling, or repairing the parts of mixing, loading, or application equipment that may contain
pesticide residues. (vi) Assisting with the application of pesticides. (vii) Entering a greenhouse
or other enclosed area after the application . . . (viii) Entering a treated area outdoors after
application of any soil fumigant to adjust or remove soil coverings such as tarpaulins. (ix)
Performing tasks as a crop advisor: (A) During any pesticide application. (B) Before the
inhalation exposure level listed in the labeling has been reached or one of the ventilation criteria
established by this part (8170.110(c)(3)) or in the labeling has been met. (C) During any
restricted-entry interval.”

* PRDA had previously conducted inspections of the Coto Laural facility (on August 20, 2003)
and the Juaca facility as well as other Martex facilities (on September 5, 2003) and issued
Notices of Warning citing Respondent for WPS violations as a result thereof.
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Based on the inspections of April 26 and July 20, 2004, Complainant filed the Complaint,
amending it on July 14, 2005 (First Amended Complaint) and again on September 6, 2005
(Second Amended Complaint). As amended, the Complaint® charges Respondent in 336 Counts
with violating Section 12(a)(2)(G) of FIFRA and the WPS. Counts 1 through 151,
corresponding to the 151 alleged pesticide applications listed in paragraphs 56 and 71 of the
Complaint and Answer, allege that Respondent failed to notify pesticide workers of pesticide
applications, in violation of 40 C.F.R. 8 170.122. Counts 152 and 153 allege that Respondent
failed to provide decontamination supplies to workers in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 170.150 (Count
152) and FIFRA Section 12(a)(2)(G) (Count 153). Counts 154 through 304, corresponding to
the same 151 pesticide applications, allege that Respondent failed to notify pesticide handlers of
pesticide applications in violation of 40 C.F.R. §170.222. Counts 305 through 321 allege that
Respondent failed to provide decontamination supplies to handlers in violation of 40 C.F.R. §
170.250. Counts 322 through 334 allege that Respondent failed to provide personal protective
equipment (“PPE”) to handlers in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 170.240. All of these violations, in
Counts 1 through 334, are alleged to have occurred at Respondent’s Jauca facility. Counts 335
and 336 allege that Respondent failed to provide decontamination supplies to a handler at
Respondent’s Coto Laurel facility, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 170.250. Complainant proposes to
assess an aggregate civil penalty of $369,600 for the 336 alleged violations.

Numerous prehearing motions were filed, including Complainant’s July 25, 2005 Motion
for Partial Accelerated Decision as to Liability as to Counts 1-334 of the Complaint, to which
Respondent filed an Opposition. On August 19, 2005, the parties filed Joint Prehearing
Stipulations (“Stipulations”). An Order was issued on October 4, 2005 (“October 4™ Order”),
granting Complainant accelerated decision as to liability for Counts 1, 2, 6-8, 10, 11, 13, 15, 17,
18, 20, 23, 25, 29-32, 34-36, 40, 44-46, 48, 50, 55, 58-60, 68-72, 74, 76, 82-84, 86-88, 90, 94,
95, 99, 103, 111, 112, 119, 120, 127, 128, 133, 136, 137, 144, 145, 150, 151, 154, 155, 159-161,
163, 164, 166, 168, 170, 173, 176, 178, 182-185, 187-189, 193, 197-199, 201, 203, 208, 211-
213, 221-225, 227, 229, 235-237, 239-241, 243, 247, 248, 252, 256, 264, 265, 272, 273, 280,
281, 286, 289, 290, 297, 298, 303 and 304, all of which pertain to failure to notify workers
(Counts 1-151) and handlers (Counts 154-304) of pesticide applications. Accelerated decision
was also granted as to Count 153, alleging Respondent’s failure to provide an eyeflush container
for workers as required by the label of a certain pesticide, Kocide 101, that was applied at
Respondent’s Jauca facility. Accelerated decision was denied as to the remaining allegations of
failure to notify workers and handlers in Counts 1 through 304, and as to Counts 152, and 305
through 334, alleging failure to provide handlers with decontamination supplies and personal
protective equipment. Accelerated decision was not requested or ruled upon as to Counts 335
and 336.

® The term “Complaint” hereinafter refers to the Second Amended Complaint. Respondent filed
Answers to the Amended Complaints, and the term “Answer” hereinafter refers to the Answer to
the Second Amended Complaint.



On October 11, 2005, Respondent filed a motion requesting recommendation for
interlocutory review of the October 4" Order. Although Complainant noted that it opposed the
motion, it stated that it would not file a response brief. The motion was denied on October 12,
2005, in the Order Denying Second Motion for Interlocutory Review (“October 12" Order”).

A hearing in this matter was held in San Juan, Puerto Rico on October 24" through
October 28, 2005, on the remaining issues of liability and as to the penalty to assess for the
violations. At the hearing, Complainant presented testimony of six witnesses, namely Juan
Carlos Munoz, Roberto Rivera Vélez (“Mr. Rivera”), Tara Masters-Glynn (“Ms. Masters”),
Yvette Sophia Hopkins, Michael Farmer, and Dr. Adrian J. Enache. Respondent presented
testimony of five witnesses, namely Venancio Marti, Sr., Venancio Luis Marti, Jr., William
Hunt, Alvaro Acosta Rodriguez (“Mr. Acosta”), and Carmen Oliver Canabal. Numerous
exhibits offered by the parties were admitted into evidence.®

1. Relevant Statutory and Regulatory Provisions

In the prohibition of FIFRA section 12(a)(2)(G) on the “use” of any registered pesticide
“in a manner inconsistent with its labeling,” the term “use” is interpreted in the Worker
Protection Standard (WPS) to include not only application of a pesticide, but also pre-application
and post-application activities such as mixing and loading the pesticide and making preparations
for the application, responsibilities related to worker notification, decontamination, and use and
care of personal protective equipment. 40 C.F.R. §8 170.9(a)(1)-(4). When the WPS (40 C.F.R.
Part 170) is referenced on a label of a pesticide, users must comply with all of the WPS
requirements, except any that are inconsistent with product-specific instructions on the labeling.
40 C.F.R. 8170.9(a).

The WPS states that “[a] person who has a duty under this part [170], as referenced on
the pesticide product label, and who fails to perform that duty, violates FIFRA section
12(a)(2)(G) and is subject to a civil penalty under section 14.” 40 C.F.R. 8 170.9(b). Section
14(a)(2) of FIFRA provides that “[a]ny private applicator or . .. person [other than a pesticide
registrant, commercial applicator, wholesaler, dealer, retailer or other distributor] who violates
any provision of this subchapter subsequent to receiving a written warning from the
Administrator or following a citation for another violation, may be assessed a civil penalty of not
more than $1,000 for each offense . ...” 7 U.S.C. § 136l(a)(2).

A “private applicator” is defined in Section 2(e)(2) of FIFRA as “a certified applicator
who uses or supervises the use of any pesticide which is classified for restricted use for purposes
of producing any agricultural commaodity on property owned or rented by the applicator or the

® A number of the witnesses testified with the aide of a certified English-Spanish translator and a
number of the exhibits were translated from Spanish to English in connection with this
proceeding.



applicator’s employer or (if applied without compensation other than trading of personal services
between producers of agricultural commaodities) on the property of another person.” 7 U.S.C. §
136(e)(2).

Subpart B of Part 170, the WPS standard for workers, applies “when any pesticide
product is used on an agricultural establishment in the production of agricultural plants” (40
C.F.R. 8 170.102), and sets forth duties and prohibitions for “agricultural employers,” defined
as:

[A]ny person who hires or contracts for the services of workers, for any type of
compensation, to perform activities related to the production of agricultural
plants, or any person who is an owner of or is responsible for the management or
condition of an agricultural establishment that uses such workers.

40 C.F.R. § 170.3. Subpart C of Part 170, the WPS applicable to pesticide handlers, applies
“when any pesticide is handled for use on an agricultural establishment” (40 C.F.R. § 170.202),
and sets forth duties and prohibitions for “handler employers,” defined as “any person who is
self-employed as a handler or who employs any handler, for any type of compensation.” 40
C.F.R.8170.3.

Agricultural employers are required to provide workers with information about pesticide
applications. Specifically, 40 C.F.R. § 170.122 states:

When workers are on an agricultural establishment and, within the last 30 days, a
pesticide covered by this subpart has been applied on the establishment or a
restricted-entry interval has been in effect, the agricultural employer shall display
... specific information about the pesticide.

(@) ...The information shall be displayed in the location specified for the
pesticide safety poster in Sec. 170.135(d) and shall be accessible and legible . . . .
(b)(1) If warning signs are posted for the treated area before an application, the
specific application information for that application shall be posted at the same
time or earlier.

(2) The information shall be posted before the application takes place, if workers
will be on the establishment during application. Otherwise, the information shall
be posted at the beginning of any worker’s first work period.

(3) The information shall continue to be displayed for at least 30 days after the
end of the restricted-entry interval (or, if there is no restricted-entry interval, for at
least 30 days after the end of the application) or at least until workers are no
longer on the establishment, whichever is earlier .

(c) ... The information shall include: (1) The location and description of the
treated area. (2) The product name, EPA registration number, and active
ingredient(s) of the pesticide. (3) The time and date the pesticide is to be applied.
(4) The restricted-entry interval for the pesticide.



Similarly, handler employers are required to provide their handlers with such information. The
requirement regarding display of pesticide application for handlers, in 40 C.F.R. 170.222, is
identical except that the word “handlers” or “handler’s” appears where the term “workers” or
“worker’s” appears in Section 170.122, and the term “handler employer” appears in Section
170.222 instead of the term “agricultural employer” in Section 170.122.’

As to decontamination supplies for workers, the WPS provides at 40 C.F.R. § 170.150, in
pertinent part as follows:

(@)(1) Requirement. The agricultural employer must provide decontamination
supplies for workers in accordance with this section whenever:
(i) Any worker on the agricultural establishment is performing an activity in the
area where a pesticide was applied or a restricted-entry interval (REI) was in
effect within the last 30 days, and;
(if) The worker contacts anything that has been treated with the pesticide,
including, but not limited to soil, water, plants, plant surfaces, and plant parts.

* * *
(b) General conditions. (1) The agricultural employer shall provide workers with

enough water for routine washing and emergency eyeflushing.
* k%

" Section 170.222 provides, in pertinent part:

When handlers ... are on an agricultural establishment and, within the last 30
days, a pesticide covered by this subpart has been applied on the establishment or
a restricted-entry interval has been in effect, the handler employer shall display ...
specific information about the pesticide... The information shall be displayed in
the same location specified for the pesticide safety poster in Sec. 170.235(d) of
this part and shall be accessible and legible, as specified in Sec. 170.235(e) and
(F) of this part... If warning signs are posted for the treated area before an
application, the specific application information for that application shall be
posted at the same time or earlier... The information shall be posted before the
application takes place, if handlers ... will be on the establishment during
application. Otherwise, the information shall be posted at the beginning of any
such handler’s first work period... The information shall continue to be displayed
for at least 30 days after the end of the restricted-entry interval (or, if there is no
restricted-entry interval, for at least 30 days after the end of the application) or at
least until the handlers are no longer on the establishment, whichever is earlier...
The information shall include: (1) The location and description of the treated
area. (2) The product name, EPA registration number, and active ingredient(s) of
the pesticide. (3) The time and date the pesticide is to be applied. (4) The
restricted-entry interval for the pesticide.
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(3) The agricultural employer shall provide soap and single-use towels in
quantities sufficient to meet worker’s needs.

* * *
(c) Location. (1) The decontamination supplies shall be located together and be
reasonably accessible to and not more than 1/4 mile from where workers are
working.
(2) For worker activities performed more than 1/4 mile from the nearest place of
vehicular access:
(i) The soap, single-use towels, and water may be at the nearest place of vehicular
access.
(if) The agricultural employer may permit workers to use clean water from
springs, streams, lakes, or other sources for decontamination at the remote work
site, if such water is more accessible than the water located at the nearest place of
vehicular access.

Decontamination supply requirements for handlers are provided in 40 C.F.R. § 170.250
as follows, in pertinent part:

(a) Requirement. During any handling activity, the handler employer shall provide
for handlers, in accordance with this section, decontamination supplies for
washing off pesticides and pesticide residues.
(b) General conditions. (1) The handler employer shall provide handlers with enough
water for routine washing and emergency eyeflushing, and for washing the entire body in
case of an emergency.

* k%
(3) The handler employer shall provide soap and single-use towels in quantities
sufficient to meet handlers’s needs.
(4) The handler employer shall provide one clean change of clothing, such as
coveralls, for use in an emergency.
(c) Location. The decontamination supplies shall be located together and be
reasonably accessible to and not more than 1/4 mile from where workers are
working.

* k%
(3) Exception for handling pesticides in remote areas. When handling activities
are performed more than 1/4 mile from the nearest place of vehicular access:
(i) The soap, single-use towels, clean change of clothing, and water may be at the
nearest place of vehicular access.
(it) The handler employer may permit handlers to use clean water from springs,
streams, lakes, or other sources for decontamination at the remote work site, if
such water is more accessible than the water located at the nearest place of
vehicular access.

* * *
(d) Emergency eyeflushing. To provide for emergency eyeflushing, the handler
employer shall assure that at least 1 pint of water is immediately available to each



handler who is performing tasks for which the pesticide labeling requires
protective eyewear. The eyeflush water shall be carried by the handler, or shall
be on the vehicle . . . the handler is using, or shall be otherwise immediately
accessible.

(e) Decontamination after handling activities. At the end of any exposure period,
the handler employer shall provide at the site where handlers remove personal
protective equipment, soap, clean towels, and a sufficient amount of water so that
the handlers may wash thoroughly.

Pesticide handlers are also required to have personal protective equipment (“PPE”),
defined as “devices and apparel that are worn to protect the body from contact with pesticides or
pesticide residues, including, but not limited to, coveralls, chemical-resistant suits, chemical
resistant gloves, chemical-resistant footwear, respiratory protection devices, chemical resistant
aprons, chemical-resistant headgear, and protective eyewear,” the latter of which is defined as
goggles, face shield, safety glasses or full face respirator. 40 C.F.R. § 170.240(b)(1) and (7).
The requirements for pesticide handlers are set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 170.240 as follows, in
pertinent part:

(c) Provision. When personal protective equipment is specified by the labeling of
any pesticide for any handling activity, the handler employer shall provide the
appropriate personal protective equipment in clean and operating condition to the
handler.

* * %
(F) Cleaning and maintenance.
(1) The handler employer shall assure that all personal protective equipment is
cleaned according to the manufacturer’s instructions or pesticide product labeling
instructions before each day of reuse.

* k%
(3) The handler employer shall assure that contaminated personal protective equipment is
kept separately and washed separately from any other clothing or laundry.

* * *
(5) The handler employer shall assure that all personal protective equipment is stored
separately from personal clothing and apart from pesticide-contaminated areas.

* * *
(9) The handler employer shall assure that handlers have a clean place(s) away
from pesticide storage and pesticide use areas where they may:
(i) Store personal clothing not in use.

* k *

(10) The handler employer shall not allow or direct any handler to wear home or to take
home personal protective equipment contaminated with pesticides.
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I111. Conclusions in the Order on Motion for Accelerated Decision

The October 4™ Order on Accelerated Decision concluded that Respondent is a “person,”
an “agricultural employer,” a “handler employer,” an “owner” of an agricultural establishment,
and a “private applicator” as defined by FIFRA and the WPS, and that Respondent’s “Jauca
facility” is an “agricultural establishment.” October 4" Order.

The parties stipulated that “[o]n April 26, 2004, no applications of the herbicide ClearOut
41 Plus were included in the WPS posting in the central posting area for workers at
Respondent’s Juaca [sic] facility” (Stipulations § 23). Based upon this stipulation and the
undisputed facts evidencing that ClearOut had been applied at the facility 57 times in the 30 days
preceding April 26, 2004, the October 4™ Order concluded that there were no genuine issues of
material fact regarding Respondent’s liability for violating Section 170.122 of the WPS and
Section 12(a)(2)(G) of FIFRA by making the 57 admitted applications of ClearOut without
posting the required information for workers. Therefore, Respondent was found liable on
Accelerated Decision for Counts 1, 2, 6-8, 10, 11, 13, 15, 17, 18, 20, 23, 25, 30, 34, 36, 40, 44-
46, 48, 50, 55, 58, 60, 68-72, 74, 76, 82-84, 86-88, 90, 94, 95, 99, 103, 111, 112, 119, 120, 127,
128, 133, 136, 137, 144, 145, 150 and 151 of the Complaint.

As it was undisputed that handlers also were at the Jauca facility during the April 26"
inspection, the October 4™ Order further concluded that there were no genuine issues of material
fact regarding Respondent’s liability for violating Section 170.222 of the WPS by making the 57
admitted applications of ClearOut without posting the required information for handlers. In
making this ruling, Respondent’s contention that the violations contained in Counts 154-304
regarding “handlers” are improperly duplicative of those in Counts 1-151 regarding “workers,”
was rejected. October 4" Order, slip op. at 21.

Specifically, Respondent had argued that the regulatory requirements for workers and
handlers are identical, and agricultural establishments are not required to duplicate their posting
sites or to provide the identical WPS information separately to workers and to handlers, who
share the same working environment, and so counts 154-304 should be dismissed. Complainant,
on the other hand, successfully argued that EPA’s revision of the WPS in 1992 deliberately
changed the structure of the WPS regulations from a single set covering all farm workers to two
sets designed to target two different types of agricultural employees, namely workers and
handlers, and that regardless of whether a single posting could meet both 40 C.F.R. 8§ 170.122
and 170.222, Respondent had separate duties to provide the pesticide application information to
its workers and to its handlers. Therefore, Respondent was found liable on Accelerated Decision
for the handler Counts # 154, 155, 159-161, 163, 164, 166, 168, 170, 171, 173, 176, 178, 183,
187, 189, 193, 197-199, 201, 203, 208, 211, 213, 221-225, 227, 229, 235-237, 239-241, 243,
247, 248, 252, 256, 264, 265, 272, 273, 280, 281, 286, 289, 290, 297, 298, 303, and 304 of the
Complaint.

Respondent also argued in opposition to the accelerated decision motion that pesticide
application numbers 31, 32, 35, 184, 185 and 188 took place at a “nursery” rather than a farm
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and therefore such applications were not required to be displayed. The Order on accelerated
decision rejected this argument based upon the fact that the WPS explicitly lists “nurseries” as
part of the definition of an “agricultural establishment,” and consequently Respondent was also
found liable on Counts 31, 32, 35, 184, 185, and 188. Furthermore, the October 4™ Order found
that as to Applications 29 and 59, corresponding to Counts 29, 59, 182 and 212, Respondent’s
simple response of “?” in its Answer (11 56, 71) did not bar a finding of liability, so accelerated
decision as to Respondent’s liability was granted for Counts 29, 59, 182 and 212.

As to the issue of decontamination supplies, based upon the stipulations that Kocide was
applied to the JC-11 mango field at the Jauca farm on April 21, 2004, that the Kocide label
required an eye-flush container designed specifically for flushing eyes be available to workers
for seven days after application, that workers were working in the JC-11 field on April 26, 2004,
and that no such eye-flush container was available to the workers on April 26, 2004 (Stipulations
25, 27, 28, 29), accelerated decision was further granted in favor of Complainant on Count 153.

Accelerated decision was denied as to the remaining counts for which accelerated

decision was requested, and therefore liability for those counts, and Counts 335 and 336,
remained at issue for the hearing.

1VV. Order Denying Second Motion for Interlocutory Review

Respondent sought interlocutory review of the October 4™ Order on Accelerated
Decision. The presiding judge may recommend an order or ruling for interlocutory review by
the Environmental Appeals Board (EAB) when the order “involves an important question of law
or policy concerning which there is substantial grounds for difference of opinion” and an
immediate appeal will materially advance the termination of the proceeding or review after the
final order will be inadequate or ineffective. 40 C.F.R. 822.29(b). Respondent sought
interlocutory review on the following grounds: (1) that many allegations of violation are flawed,
(2) that as to the application display requirements, Complainant’s Exhibit 21 was not considered
and Stipulation 23 was not interpreted correctly; and (3) that as to Count 153, Complainant’s
Exhibit 13 indicates that a five-gallon drinking can was available to the workers, and EPA’s
Agricultural Worker Protection Standard 40 CFR Parts 156 and 170 Interpretive Policy
(“Interpretive Policy”) would allow such amount of water to satisfy eye-flush requirements.

The October 12" Order denying interlocutory review first observed that the argument that
many allegations are flawed simply reiterates arguments set forth in Respondent’s Answer which
were fully addressed in the October 4" Order. Second, the October 12" Order stated that
Complainant’s Exhibit 21 was considered and referenced several times in the October 4™ Order,
and that Respondent’s characterization of Stipulation 23 is incorrect. Third, the October 12
Order pointed out that the label on Kocide required an eye-flush container designed specifically
for flushing eyes, and that the Interpretive Policy only addresses the WPS requirement of
emergency eye-flush under 40 C.F.R. § 170.150. Therefore, the October 12" Order did not
recommend the October 4™ Order on Accelerated Decision for interlocutory review, finding that

12



the issues decided did not meet the standard set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 22.29(b)(1) in that they did
not “involve[] an important question of law or policy concerning which there is substantial
grounds for difference of opinion.”

V. Findings of Fact

A. Martex Farms

1.

Respondent Martex Farms, S.E. owns five agricultural establishments on almost 3000
acres in Puerto Rico, comprising the largest tropical fruit farm, and one of the largest
farm companies, in Puerto Rico. Tr. 1079. 1144, 1290, 1351. Sixty percent of
Respondent’s sales volume comes from mangoes, most of which are exported to Europe.
Tr. 1154-1156. Martex has a gross income of over $10 million dollars. Tr. 1293.

Martex’s agricultural establishments, or farms, are called Jauca, Coto Laurel, Paso Seco,
Rio Canas and Descalabrado. Tr. 1142-1144, 1718, 1812; R’s Ex. 14. The Jauca farm
consists of close to 1,000 acres. Tr. 1293. In 1999, Respondent acquired property,
including the Coto Laurel farm, from International Fruits, Inc. Tr. 1140-1142.

Respondent has 300 to 400 employees, including three to six handlers at the Jauca farm.
Tr. 1184, 1290, 1440, 1811. There are twelve supervisors at the Jauca farm, including
one in charge of pesticide spraying, and each has a vehicle. Tr. 1507, 1736, 1787.

Mr. Venancio Luis Marti, Sr., a licensed civil engineer, started his career in the
construction business in Puerto Rico in 1968, and created two construction companies -
Martex General Construction and Martex Development, in which he is still actively
involved. Tr. 1124, 1126-1127, 1333-1334. About 20 to 25 years ago, he started
agricultural operations and developed and became president of Respondent Martex, S.E.
Tr. 1127. In 2005, Mr. Marti, Sr., was appointed by the U.S. Department of Agriculture
to be a member of the National Mango Board, and represents all of the mango producers
in the United States. Tr. 1134-1136; R’s Ex. 41.

Mr. Venancio Luis Marti, Jr., has a master’s degree in Business Administration, and is
the vice president and an owner of Respondent Martex. Tr. 1389, 1542, 1719. Heisin
charge of Respondent’s local sales, supervising the packing and processing plants, and
supporting the farm supervisors. Tr. 1389-1390.

Mr. Acosta is Respondent’s field agronomist. Tr. 1811. Mr. Jaime Oyola is an
agronomist and is Respondent’s purchasing manager. Tr. 1390-1391.

B. Pesticide Application, Labels, Toxicity and Required Personal Protective Equipment
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11.

12.

Pesticides are applied at Respondent’s farms by handlers either spraying from tractors or
manually spot-spraying from a canister carried on the handler’s back. Tr. 1295, 1450-
1451. Most pesticides are applied in the evening, after 4:00 p.m., but the herbicides, such
as ClearOut, are applied during the day. Tr. 1303-1304, 1378-1379. Because the rows of
bananas and palms are narrow, herbicides are applied manually, and because the
plantation is large, to cover the amount of area required, three handlers at a time apply a
herbicide; one handler working alone would take days to apply it. Tr. 1305-1306, 1441,
1451,

Yvette Hopkins testified for Complainant as an expert in EPA pesticide registration
procedures and standards. Tr. 664.

Dr. Enache testified as an expert in toxicology and pesticide use. Tr. 909.

Toxicity is measured on the basis of dermal and eye sensitization, and inhalation and oral
toxicity. Tr. 678-679.

Trilogy has the signal word “Caution” on its label, which indicates it is in Category 3 for
toxicity, the second to lowest category of toxicity. Tr. 678-679, 928; C’s Ex. 19. For
Trilogy, the reentry interval (“REI”), or the minimum amount of time workers must wait
after application before entering the field, is four hours. Tr. 693-694; C’s Ex. 19 p. 2.
Trilogy is a biological product, an extract of Neem, a plant from Southeast Asia. Tr. 694-
695. For Trilogy, the “Lethal Dose 50,” i.e, the dose at which 50 percent of persons
exposed dermally or orally to the chemical would die, is 2.5 to 3 cups of Trilogy for a
person of average weight of 160 pounds. Tr. 928-931. Possible harmful effects from less
exposure are moderate to severe skin problems, upper respiratory irritation, and moderate
to severe eye irritation. Tr. 929.

The label for Kocide, which contains 77% copper hydroxide, has the signal word
“Danger,” placing it in Category 1 for toxicity, and is very corrosive to eyes. Tr. 680-
681. The Kocide label requires a dedicated eyeflush container and eyewash to be
available for 7 days after application for workers and handlers. Tr. 682; C’s Ex. 18 p. 5.
In the event it gets into the eye, the label requires rinsing the eye with water for 15 to 20
minutes (C’s Ex. 18 p. 3), which, Ms. Hopkins testified, would require six to eight
gallons of water using an eyeflush container. Tr. 683. Dr. Enache testified that Kocide
exposure may cause irreversible eye damage and even blindness, ingestion may cause
renal failure and severe gastrointestinal problems, and repeated inhalation exposure may
cause lung failure. Tr. 938, 941. Dr. Enache further testified that four teaspoons can
cause any of these effects. Tr. 938, 941. Repeated exposure to copper hydroxide leads to
copper poisoning. Tr. 939-940. Handlers working with Kocide are required to have
personal protective equipment including chemical resistant gloves and protective
eyewear, which could be goggles, safety glasses with bridge and temple protection, or a
face shield. Tr. 683; C’s Ex. 18; Stipulation 33. The REI for Kocide is 24 hours. Tr.
698; C’s Ex. 18.
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14.

Boa, which contains 37% paraquat dichloride, is a Restricted Use Pesticide (RUP), which
may be fatal if swallowed or inhaled, and its label requires handlers of it to use chemical
resistant gloves, protective eyewear, and a National Institute of Occupational Safety and
Health (NIOSH) approved dust or mist respirator with N, R, P or HE filter. Tr. 686, 688-
689; C’s Ex. 17; Stipulation 34. The Boa label requires that when mixing and/or loading
Boa handlers must wear a face shield and chemical-resistant apron in addition to the
gloves and respirator. Stipulation 34; C’s Ex. 17. As with Kocide and ClearOut, in the
event Boa gets into the eye, the label requires rinsing the eye with water for 15 to 20
minutes, which, Ms. Hopkins testified, would require six to eight gallons of water using
an eyeflush container. Tr. 689. Dr. Enache testified that if poisoning with Boa is not
treated immediately it leads to the failure of organs such as lung, kidney and liver. Tr.
942. He further testified that dermal exposure results in the skin breaking apart and the
skin “keeps on breaking apart, the fingernails fall,” and ulcerations, and perhaps death.
Tr. 942-943. Dr. Enache described Boa as “one of the most toxic pesticides available on
the market these days,” that the Lethal Dose 50 is 15 to 50 milligrams per kilogram of
body weight, and that exposure to half of a teaspoon could cause these effects. Tr. 941-
943. The REI for Boa is 24 hours. C’s Ex. 17; Tr. 700.

ClearOut, which contains 41% glyphosate, has the signal word “Danger” on its label, and
is in Category 1 for toxicity, based on its formulation, which includes ingredients that are
more toxic than the glyphosate. Tr. 684-685, 932-933; C’s Ex. 20. ClearOut’s label
further states that it causes irreversible eye damage, and that it is harmful if swallowed or
absorbed through skin. C’s Ex. 20; Tr. 685-686, 933. The label requires handlers to
wear chemical resistant gloves and protective eyewear when working with it. C’s Ex. 20.
Dr. Enache testified that ClearOut is extremely corrosive and that severe exposures may
cause very severe dermatitis or affect the central nervous system. Tr. 933, 936. He
further testified that the Lethal Dose 50 for glyphosate is 4,300 milligrams per kilogram
of body weight, and exposure to 1.2 cups of ClearOut would trigger the adverse health
effects, which a handler can get exposed to within half of a day working without the
required PPE. Tr. 933-934. Dr. Enache testified that repeated exposure to ClearOut is
“going to lead to chronic effects.” Tr. 937. In the event it gets into the eye, the label
requires rinsing the eye with water for 15 to 20 minutes, which, Ms. Hopkins testified,
would require six to eight gallons of water using an eyeflush container. Tr. 686. The
REI for ClearOut is 12 hours, and it is applied during the day. C’s Ex. 20; Tr. 700, 1375.

C. The Inspections in 2003

15.

16.

Since 1973, U.S. EPA and the Puerto Rico Department of Agriculture (PRDA) have
agreed that PRDA will enforce FIFRA in Puerto Rico. Tr. 73, 154.

On March 24, 2003, Ms. Dilsia Barros Lopez of PRDA and Anthony Lammano of the

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation conducted an inspection of
Martex’s Jauca farm. Tr. 969-972; R’s Ex. 30. It was noted in the Summary of Findings
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18.

19.

20.

21.

of the inspection that the central information area complies with the legal requirements,
that no violation was found as to pesticide safety training, and that PPE and the
decontamination site were inspected and no violations were found. R’s Exs. 27, 30. See
also, Tr. 974-980, 1030.

Mr. Munoz is a PRDA pesticide inspector supervisor who has conducted over 200
FIFRA inspections, almost all of which were WPS inspections. Tr. 67-70.

On August 20, 2003, Mr. Munoz conducted a FIFRA inspection of Respondent’s Coto
Laurel farm, along with Mr. Rivera and Jorge Maldonado Medina of the PRDA, and Dr.
Enache and Ken Stoller of EPA. Tr. 74-75, 922. Dr. Enache testified that he and Mr.
Stoller were taken by the PRDA inspectors to the Coto Laurel facility upon the PRDA
inspectors’ presumption that it would be an example of a facility which would be in
compliance with the law, and that they were surprised to find violations. Tr. 924-925,
986. They observed that the WPS display records at Coto Laurel facility did not include
information as to the percentage of active ingredient in the pesticides, EPA registration
number, and re-entry interval. Tr. 79-80, 922-923; C’s Ex. 1 pp. 25-36, C’s Ex. 1-B.
They also observed that there were no disposable towels at the facility for the workers,
and that there was no training program for the workers. Tr. 80-81, 85, 922-923, 959-960;
C’sEx. 1, 1-B.

Based on the August 20, 2003 inspection of the Coto Laurel farm, a Notice of Warning
was issued by PRDA to Martex on September 26, 2003 alleging that Respondent failed
to: (1) place pesticide warning signs 24 hours before application and remove them after
(rather than when) the re-entry interval expired; (2) include in its application records
EPA registration, active ingredient, and re-entry interval information; (3) maintain a
training program of pesticide safety; and (4) provide disposable towels to remove
pesticide residue. C’s Exs. 2, 2A; Tr. 924. These are alleged violations of 40 C.F.R. §8
170.120(c)(6)(i) and (iii), 170.122(c)(2) and (4), 170.222(c)(2) and (4), 170.130(d) and
(e), 170.150(b)(3) and 170.250(b)(3).

Mr. Rivera is a pesticide inspector employed by the PRDA, who has conducted over 200
inspections on behalf of PRDA and EPA, over 100 of which were WPS inspections. Tr.
225-228.

On September 5, 2003, Mr. Rivera conducted a FIFRA inspection at the Jauca farm,
during which he was accompanied by Mr. Acosta of Martex. C’s Ex. 10; Tr. 229-230,
233, 445. Mr. Rivera observed at that time that pesticide application records were posted
in the central office area, but as to one of the products no EPA registration number was
listed. Tr.235-237. As to PPE, during the inspection Mr. Acosta showed Mr. Rivera a
locked storage box which he represented contained PPE, but indicated he did not have
the key to it with him, so Mr. Rivera could not personally observe the contents of the
box. Tr. 237-238. Mr. Acosta also pointed out to the inspector what Mr. Rivera
described as “clean, brand new” water resistant coveralls, dust masks, and waterproof
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22,

23.

24,

gloves, all located in the farm’s main office. Tr. 238. Mr. Rivera did not see respirators,
face masks, or chemical resistant aprons. Tr. 239. In the absence of Mr. Acosta, Mr.
Rivera interviewed eight workers who were in a banana field, cutting dry leaves with
machetes, and asked them if water, disposable towels and soap were provided, and the
workers indicated that they did not know what a decontamination area was and that these
items were not provided. Tr. 240-241, 244-245, 445-448, 450, 453-454; C’s Ex. 10 p. 6;
C’s Ex. 10B p. 58. Mr. Rivera testified that he did not see any such items or even
drinking water in the field. Tr. 240-241. Mr. Rivera pointed out to the workers that
water, soap and shower are available in the workshop building. Tr. 454. He did not
observe any handlers applying pesticide at the Jauca facility that day. Tr. 486. He
testified that he asked Mr. Acosta whether he had a WPS training program, and that Mr.
Acosta said he did not. Tr. 247. Mr. Rivera said he gave Mr. Acosta two training
program cassettes, presented the WPS inspection checklist, and had him sign an Affidavit
indicating the findings upon inspection. Tr. 247, 249-251, 254-255; C’s Ex. 10 p. 8; C’s
Ex. 10B.

Based on the September 5, 2003 inspection of the Jauca facility, a Notice of Warning was
issued by PRDA to Martex on October 30, 2003, alleging with regard to the Jauca farm
that Respondent: (1) did not have the EPA registration number for mineral oil in the WPS
display records; (2) did not have a WPS training program for workers without WPS
cards; and (3) did not provide water, soap, or disposable towels for workers. These are
alleged violations of 40 C.F.R. 88 170.122(c)(2), 170.130(a)(3) and (d)(1), and
170.150(b)(10 and (3). C’s Exs. 11, 11-A.

Also on September 5, 2003, Mr. Munoz of EPA conducted a FIFRA inspection of
Respondent’s Rio Canas farm, along with Jorge Maldonado Medina, a PRDA inspector.
Tr. 91-92; C’s EX. 7; R’s Ex. 20. Mr. Munoz observed during the inspection that not all
of the pesticide application records for the last 30 days were posted, that such records did
not include the EPA registration numbers, that only two out of 10 workers had received
PRDA pesticide training, and that the workers did not have decontamination supplies of
water, soap and towels. Tr. 94; C’s Ex. 7; R’s Ex. 20. Based on this inspection, the
PRDA issued a Notice of Violation to Martex on October 29, 2003 with regard to the Rio
Canas farm alleging that Respondent (1) did not maintain WPS display records in the
central information area for 30 days following application; (2) did not maintain WPS
display records with EPA registration numbers; (3) did not maintain a training program
on pesticide safety; and (4) did not provide water, soap and disposable towels. These are
alleged violations of 40 C.F.R. 88 170.122(b)(3); 170.222(b)(3), 170.122 (c)(2)(4),
170.222(c)(2)(4); 170.130(d) and (e), an 170.150(b)(3). C’s Ex. 8, 8-A.

In a follow-up inspection of the Rio Canas farm on or about September 9, 2003, Mr.
Maldonado noted that the violations regarding the application logs and decontamination
equipment had been corrected, and that there were no violations occurring during a
pesticide application he observed. Tr. 1456-1459; R’s EX. 20.
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26.

On December 5, 2003, Mr. Jose Alberto de Jesus, a PRDA inspector, conducted an
inspection of Respondent’s Paso Seco farm, and noted that it did not have a WPS training
program. Tr. 96-97.

On October 6, 2003, PRDA issued a Notice of Violation alleging that Respondent had
not provided evidence that its workers had receive all the requisite training over the past
Syears. C’s Exs. 6, 6-A.

D. The Jauca Facility and Inspection on April 26, 2004

27.

Mr. Rivera conducted an inspection of Martex’s Jauca facility on April 26, 2004, starting
at 8:45 a.m., with EPA inspectors Ms. Masters and Ms. Vera Soltero observing the
inspection. Tr. 257-258, 569-570. Ms. Soltero served as a translator for Ms. Masters
since the latter did not speak Spanish. Tr. 570, 614, 636-637, 641, 644-645.

Decontamination

28.

29.

During the April 26, 2004 inspection of the Jauca farm, Mr. Rivera and Ms. Masters
observed a decontamination site for handlers at the workshop which had a shower and
soap, but it did not include a towel, paper towels or eyeflush. Tr. 264, 397-398, 576-577,
584; C’s Ex. 13 p. 4, 85, C’'s Ex. 13 p. 82.

On April 21, 2004, Kocide was applied to the JC 11 field. C’s Ex. 13 p. 19, C’s Ex. 13-C
p. 78. During the April 26, 2004 inspection, Mr. Rivera, along with Ms. Masters,
interviewed about 20 workers in the JC 11 field, who were harvesting mangoes. Tr. 267,
C’s Ex. 13 p. 4. The temperature was between 80 and 90 degrees, and it was humid. Tr.
582. Mr. Acosta was not present during the interview. Tr. 1734. Mr. Rivera observed
several automobiles in the area, which suggested to him that workers drove directly to the
field. Tr. 299-300; C’s Ex. 13 p. 4. He and Ms. Masters observed that in the field there
was a five gallon can of water, but there was no soap, paper towels or additional water in
the field. Tr. 267-268, 583, 607-608; C’s Ex. 13 p. 4. Mr. Rivera’s Agricultural Worker
Interview form included the question “Do you know what a decontamination area is?”
and the answer was marked “Yes,” and to the next question “where is it?” the
handwritten response was “Yes,” apparently because, as he testified at hearing, he asked
them if they knew where the decontamination area was. C’s Ex. 13 p. 86; C’s Ex. 13-C p.
83; Tr. 459. He did not check any box on the form for the question “Is it available all
day.” Id. Boxes on the form were checked for the items potable water, soap, paper
towels, and fresh water, a box was checked to indicate the employer provided it, and a
handwritten note stated “Decon site of the warehouse did not have soap or towel.” Id.

He explained on cross and redirect examination that he asked the workers if they knew
what a decontamination site is supposed to have, and they provided correct answers so he
marked the form accordingly. Tr. 461-463, 516-519, 524. Mr. Rivera and Ms. Masters
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31.

32.

33.

believed that the workshop was the closest decontamination site to the workers in the JC
11 field. Tr. 268, 583-584.

Ms. Masters testified that Mr. Acosta drove them to the field where the workers were
picking mangoes, and when they were out in the field, Mr. Rivera and Ms. Masters asked
Mr. Acosta whether there were any decontamination supplies at the site of the workers,
and that he said “no.” Tr. 608-610, 613.

Mr. Acosta stated at the hearing that on April 26, 2004, Mr. Rivera did not ask him
whether the workers have water, and that when they were in the field with the workers,
Mr. Rivera did not ask him to show decontamination supplies, and that if the inspectors
had asked him where the decontamination materials were, he would have said, “in the
supervisor’s vehicle.” Tr. 1772-1773, 1868-1869, 1871-1872. While he agreed on cross
examination with counsel’s statement “[y]ou testified that the inspectors asked to see
decontamination supplies,” he testified immediately afterward about PPE and therefore
apparently was referring only to PPE. Tr. 1866-1867. Mr. Acosta testified that Mr. Rey,
a mango harvesting supervisor, was in the field with the workers on April 26, 2004 and
waited with him while Mr. Rivera interviewed the workers, and that Mr. Jose Martinez,
another mango harvesting supervisor, was in the next field, JC-21. Tr. 1734-1735, 1739-
1740, 1872. Mr. Acosta answered in the affirmative when asked whether, on April 26,
2004, he and Mr. Rey had water in their trucks, whether on that date he had the
decontamination materials in his truck, and whether he knew if Mr. Rey had the same
materials on that day. Tr. 1737-1739. He testified that Mr. Martinez “had the material
and equipment out in the field.” Tr. 1872.

Mr. Marti, Sr. suggested that the main decontamination area is the supervisors’ pickup
truck. Tr. 1319. Mr. Acosta and the supervisors all have pickup trucks in which they
carry water, and the workers always have one or more supervisors around. Tr. 1310,
1508, 1736-1737, 1740. Mr. Marti, Sr. testified that the supervisors also have
decontamination equipment including a PVC pipe, which is used to contain the
decontamination equipment, but he was not sure that they had it at the time of the
inspections. Tr. 1152, 1310-1311, 1319. See also, R’s Ex. 49 (photograph showing PVC
pipe at Coto Laurel decontamination area). Mr. Acosta and Mr. Marti, Jr. testified that
the supervisors all carry in their trucks five gallon containers of water as well as soap,
paper towels, and “protection equipment,” which Mr. Marti, Jr. described as an extra set
of coveralls, an extra set of gloves and eyewash. Tr. 1506, 1736-1738. Mr. Acosta
testified that his truck contains an overall, towel, a roll of paper towels, soap and one or
two gallon bottles. Tr. 1738-1739.

Mr. Marti, Jr. testified that since he can remember, the handler supervisors had
decontamination equipment in their pickup trucks, and that after the September 2003
inspections, Martex assigned more decontamination materials to the harvest supervisors.
Tr. 1535-1536.
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The handler supervisor, with written pesticide spraying instructions, meets with handlers
in front of the office and gives instructions to each handler. The handlers get in the
supervisor’s pickup truck and travel to the workshop, pick up the chemicals and
equipment, and travel to the mixing site, and mix the pesticide in the tanks. Tr. 1556-
1557.

At the Jauca farm, near the Jauca 41 and 42 fields in the southern part of the farm, along
the road which Mr. Rivera went to interview the workers at the Jauca 11 field and to
return to the storage and workshop areas, is a fruit washing station, which is a metal pipe
structure with sprays, and which has a faucet to which a hose can be attached. Tr. 1320-
1324, 1464-1467, 1473, 1770-1772, 1775-1776.; R’s Exs. 50, 51. The fruit washing
station does not include soap or towels. Tr. 1323, 1325; R’s Ex. 50. There is a five-acre
irrigation lake near the OS-11 field on the northern part of the Jauca farm. Tr. 1329-
1332, 1469, 1471; R’s Ex. 51. Near the lake there is a hose and valve used for filling
pesticide mixing tanks with water. Tr. 1325-1328, 1470; R’s Ex. 50.

Respondent presents photographs and documents which indicate that it supplied
decontamination materials to supervisors and set up mobile decontamination sites, but
these photographs and documents are dated after the initial Complaint was filed or are
undated. R’s Exs. 15, 16, 17, 18, 19.

A log of purchases of decontamination materials, including eye cups, eyewash, soap and
single-use towels since January 2003, shows that between February 2003 and before May
2004, Respondent made three purchases of $132 for four boxes containing 12 packages
of 400 single-use towels, and one purchase of two boxes of soap for $179.50. R’s Ex. 11;
Tr. 1515-1516. However, Mr. Marti, Jr. testified that these supplies are used not only as
decontamination materials, but are also used in the bathrooms at the different farms, and
at the processing plant. Tr. 1399-1400.

After interviewing the workers during his April 26, 2004 inspection, Mr. Rivera asked to
see the farm’s personal protective equipment (PPE). C’s Ex. 13 p. 4; Tr. 284. Although
Mr. Acosta said that PPE was located in the workshop, the inspectors did not see any
PPE there, but did see a locked wooden box on the wall of the workshop, with no key
available. Tr. 284-285, 578-579; 1778-1780. Mr. Acosta testified that the box contained
face masks, that some “masks” were being used by handlers on the evening shift, which
begins at 4 p.m., and that in the office there were protection materials in small containers,
with overalls and “masks that are used to protect yourself from dust.” Tr. 1777, 1779-
1780, 1782, 1784, 1867-1868. Mr. Acosta also showed the inspectors a pesticide mixing-
loading site, where there was a box containing a glass mixing cup, a waterproof glove,
chemical-proof coverall, and first aid supplies, but no eyewash, chemical resistant gloves,
chemical resistant apron, safety eyewear, respirator, face mask, or place for handlers to
store clean clothes. Tr. 286-289; C’s Ex. 13 p. 4.
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Mr. Rivera did not see any handlers at the Jauca facility on April 26, 2004. Tr. 485-486.
The only pesticide applications scheduled during the day of April 26™ were applications
of Boa by three handlers at 6:30 a.m. to a banana field and applications of ClearOut by
Mr. Pewee to two fields, and the earliest pesticide (Kocide) application scheduled for the
evening shift was at 4:50 p.m. C’s Ex. 21 pp. 105-108.

From January 2003 through March 2005, Respondent periodically purchased chemical
resistant gloves, dust masks, aprons, hand soap, and single-use towels. R’s Ex. 11; Tr.
1392-1399. Respondent purchased coveralls, respirators and filter cartridges and
pesticide pre-filters for the respirators prior to the April 26, 2004 inspection. R’s Ex. 11;
Tr. 1401-1404. Respondent purchased eye-wash containers in January and December
2003 and May and November 2004, and eyewash in October and December 2003 and
May and November 2004. R’s Ex. 11; Tr. 1404-1408. A log of purchases of PPE from
January 2003 until the April 26, 2004 inspection shows that Respondent purchased a box
of dust masks for $101 in May 2003, a box of dust masks for $119 in September 2003,
many boxes containing over 50 masks identified as “Disp. Resp. Nuisance 50/BX mask”
at $8.60 per box, three masks identified as “P.E.L. 2000 ¥ mask M/L F95” for $36 per
mask, five masks identified as “P.E.L. 1000 %2 mask LG F” for $16 per mask, many
boxes of tyvek coveralls and nitrille gloves, six boxes of respirators at $85 per box,
respirator cartridges and filters, goggles, and many *“aprons” and “gloves.” R’s Ex. 11.
Most of Respondent’s suppliers are in Puerto Rico, in the vicinity of the farms. Tr. 1397-
1400, 1404. Mr. Marti, Jr. testified that PPE is used every day on the farm. Tr. 1581.

Notification of Pesticide Applications

41.

42.

43.

During the inspection, Mr. Rivera and Ms. Masters observed that in the central posting
area at the Jauca facility, there were documents posted (“WPS Display Records”)
containing information of pesticides applied, date of application, active ingredient, EPA
registration number, and reentry interval. C’s Ex. 13; Tr. 292-296, 574, 596-597, 599-
600. The WPS Display Records were posted in a binder placed in a holder on a bulletin
board on the porch of the main building at the Jauca farm. Tr. 536-537; R’s Ex. 3.

Mr. Rivera and Ms. Masters reviewed each page of the WPS Display Records for the
prior 30 days of pesticide applications, and observed that they did not include any
applications of ClearOut. C’s Ex. 13; C’s Ex. 13-C p. 78; Tr. 292-296, 334, 413, 502-
504, 535-537, 539-541, 595-597, 600-601, 642-643.

After observing the WPS Display Records, at the wrap-up of the inspection, Mr. Rivera
asked Mr. Acosta for application records of the last 30 days. Tr. 291-293, 594, 546-547.
In response, Mr. Acosta provided the inspector with a one-page chart with 12
handwritten listings of applications of ClearOut made from March 29" to April 2, 2004,
and eight pages of records for applications to mango crops from March 26™ to April 23,
2004, which Mr. Marti, Jr. described as farm spraying instructions (“Jauca Spraying
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Instructions”) for mangoes, and included applications of fertilizer, and 15 listings of
ClearOut, from March 26" through April 23, 2004, but did not include the EPA
registration number, active ingredient, or reentry interval. C’s Ex. 13 pp. 4, 8-15, 18; C’s
Ex. 13-C pp. 68-75, 77; Tr. 292-294, 545-546, 594-595, 1553. The Jauca Spraying
Instructions were not the same as the WPS Display Records. Id. Mr. Rivera recalled that
the WPS Display Records he reviewed were about 30 or 40 pages, and the Jauca
Spraying Instructions he reviewed, for mangoes only, had eight pages, listing
approximately 98 pesticide applications, including 15 applications of ClearOut, and some
fertilizer applications. C’s Ex. 13 pp. 8-15; Tr. 292, 539-540.

Mr. Rivera testified that he asked Mr. Acosta why there was a difference between the two
sets of records (the WPS Display Records and the Jauca Spraying Instructions), and that
Mr. Acosta told him that they didn’t include herbicide application in their WPS Display
Records. Tr. 296.

Mr. Marti, Jr. explained that the Jauca Spraying Instructions are used by the agronomists
to keep track of what they are doing on the farm, and they are initiated by a handwritten
paper given out to the field spraying supervisors to instruct them which product to spray
on which field. Tr. 1553-1554; C’s Ex. 13 p. 18, C’s Ex. 13-C p. 77. At the Jauca farm,
there is only one supervisor for pesticide spraying. Tr. 1507. The supervisor assigns the
size of the tank and the handler, and gives the handwritten paper to the employee who is
in charge of the database at the main office at the Jauca farm, who enters that information
into the computer before the application takes place, and produces two documents:
handler spray instructions for the specific handler and date, and the WPS Display Record
which gets posted on the bulletin board for that day, from that afternoon until the next
afternoon. Tr. 1554-1556. The evening work shift begins at 4:00 p.m. Tr. 1782, 1784.
After the work shift ends around 11:00 p.m., the handlers give the supervisors spray
instructions confirmation and updated information, such as which fields were or were not
sprayed and the time of spraying. Tr. 1557-1558. This updated information from the
handlers is entered into the records in the database the next day by the person who does
computer data entry. Tr. 1558-1559. The updated information is supposed to be
reprinted and posted in the WPS Display. Tr. 1562. Mr. Marti, Jr. explained that the
discrepancies between the WPS Display Records and the Jauca Spraying Instructions are
the result of the latter being updated by the supervisors’ confirmation of pesticide
applications, and the WPS Display Records not being replaced with the updated
information. Tr. 1591-1592; R’s Ex. 31.

Mr. Acosta observed during the April 26™ Jauca inspection that applications of ClearOut
made on April 26" were not included in the WPS Display Records. Tr. 1806-1809, 1899-
1900. Mr. Acosta did not review the WPS Display Records for the prior month during
the April 26" inspection. Tr. 1885-1886.

Mr. Rivera asked for and took with him on April 26" the page of Jauca WPS Display
Records for only one day, April 21, 2004, because he wanted to prove that workers were
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48.

49.

50.

51.

in the area, the JC-11 field, where he interviewed the workers that day, and where a
pesticide (Kocide) had been recently applied. Tr. 501, 537-538, 540, 597-599, 641,
1895-1896; C’s Ex. 13 p. 19, C’s Ex. 13-C p. 78.

Mr. Rivera could not remember at the hearing why they did not get a copy of the full set
of WPS Display Records for the past 30 days. Tr. 296. Ms. Masters testified that the
inspectors did not get a copy of the whole set because “they” (Respondent’s personnel)
told the inspectors in Spanish, and Ms. Soltero translated to English for Ms. Masters, that
the copier was broken. Tr. 596-599, 635-637, 640-642, 1713-1714. The inspectors
received copies of the Jauca Spraying Instructions for mangoes for the past month, a
chemical inventory, a map of the Jauca farm, and the WPS Display Records for April 21,
2004. Tr. 635-636; C’s Ex. 13-B pp. 6, 7; C’s Ex. 13-C p. 67. Ms. Masters testified that
when they “got to that point that’s what they told us, that [the photocopier] was broken or
that it had broke, or something to that effect,” that the inspectors received the records
printed from a computer, and that the WPS Display Records were “the last thing we
asked for.” Tr. 635-636. Mr. Marti, Jr. testified that farm maps are provided at the
beginning of an inspection. Tr. 1422-1423. Mr. Acosta testified, “specifically that day
[April 26, 2004] there was a problem with the photo — well, everything was given and
everything was okay . ...” Tr. 1808-1809. Later, in re-cross examination, when asked
about that testimony, he stated that he didn’t deal with the computer or photocopier, but
that the inspectors asked for documents and other employees of Respondent would get
them from the computer and print copies, and that whatever the inspectors asked for, he
gave to them. Tr. 1898-1899.

At the end of the April 26™ Jauca inspection, Mr. Rivera drafted an Affidavit listing his
findings and had Mr. Acosta read it, and then Mr. Acosta signed the Affidavit. C’s Ex.
13 p. 6, C’s Ex. 13-C p. 67; Tr. 301, 303, 1793-1795, 1899.

The Affidavit regarding the Jauca farm states in part that “[t]he inspectors visited the
decontamination shower area and there was no towel there. . . . No inspector found safety
glasses or face masks. The herbicide application is not being included on the WPS
Reports, but it is documented. . . . There are no disposable towels, soap or water for the
workers interviewed.” C’s Ex. 13 p. 6, C’s Ex. 13-C p. 67.

Mr. Acosta testified that when he read the Affidavit he told the inspectors that it is “too
general” and that “there were things that could be clarified and corrected immediately as
had been done before,” and that “if there were any irregularities, then, the next day,

immediately, they would be corrected . .. .” Tr. 1795-1796. He explained that he “sort
of trusted all of the situation because if there was something that was wrong it would be
corrected . . . . at that point it was like an inspection, like an audit, which in an audit when

something is found, when there’s a finding, you’re told: You have a month to correct this.
And the next time 1I’m here it has to be corrected. So basically | had been in this strategy
for about three or four years and improving.” Tr. 1795-1797.
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E. The Coto Laurel Facility and Inspection on April 26, 2004

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

At all times relevant to the Complaint, the Respondent’s Coto Laurel property included a
mechanic shop, a warehouse, an office area, and a 70,000-square-feet packaging and hot-
water treatment plant for mangoes. Tr. 1144-1145, 1296-1297; R’s Ex. 49.

On April 26, 2004, the Coto Laurel farm was inspected by Mr. Munoz, accompanied by
Ms. Jennifer Larkins and Mr. Carlton Layne, who are contractors for EPA, and Mr. Jaime
Oyola. Tr. 98, 102, 1390; C’s Exs. 15, 15A. Neither Mr. Acosta nor Mr. Marti
accompanied Mr. Munoz during his inspection of the Coto Laurel farm. Tr. 99, 1724,

According to Respondent’s pesticide application records, Kocide had been applied on the
20" and 21 of April 2004 in a field referenced as “Mango C-001.” Tr. 104, 125; C’s Ex.
15 pp. 6, 109; C’s Ex. 15A p. 90. Because he could not obtain a photocopy, Mr. Munoz
took a photograph of the application record showing the Kocide application on April 21,
2004. C’s Ex. 15 p. 109; Tr. 125, 129-130.

As part of his inspection, Mr. Munoz interviewed a handler at the farm, who was the only
employee present at the farm. Tr. 105-107, 109, 147-148. The handler at the Coto
Laurel farm is also the handler supervisor. Tr. 1535. The handler was in the mechanic
shop at the time and was not handling pesticides. Tr. 149-150, 192. Mr. Munoz also
interviewed Mr. Oyola. Tr. 106. Based on these interviews and his inspection of the
facility, Mr. Munoz found that the Coto Laurel farm did not have eye-flush for handlers
or a shower for handlers to bathe in after applying pesticides, if necessary. Tr. 107-109,
112-113, 116; C’s Ex. 15 pp. 3, 19, 20, 22, 23; C’s Ex. 15A p. 99. Mr. Munoz testified
that the handler told him “the farm doesn’t have any showers,” and replied in the
negative when asked whether he had a place to take a bath, and that when Mr. Munoz
asked Mr. Oyola whether the farm had any showers and any eyeflush he replied in the
negative. Tr. 107-108, 113, 119, 182. The decontamination site had soap, clean clothing,
water, and a towel, but no shower or place to bathe. Tr. 108, 112.

Mr. Munoz acknowledged that the requirement of 40 C.F.R. § 170.250(b) to provide
“enough water . . . for washing the entire body in the case of an emergency” does not
require a shower, but just requires enough clean water to take a bath. Tr. 210-211.

At the time of the inspection, former owners of Fruit International lived in two mobile
homes on the Coto Laurel property, in a compound which includes a swimming pool. Tr.
1145-1147. Large water tanks are located on the Coto Laurel property which provided
potable water to the packaging plant. Tr. 1147-1148, 1296; R’s Exs. 48, 49 photographs
1-3. Mr. Munoz acknowledged he did not remember seeing the water tanks. Tr. 152-
153. At all times relevant to the Complaint, the packaging and hot-water treatment plant
at Coto Laurel included a cafeteria and two bathrooms, and the office area had three
bathrooms and a kitchen. Tr. 1145, 1151-1152. Bathrooms in the packaging plant could
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58.

59.

60.

61.

be used by handlers to wash, but they did not have showers or faucets appropriate for
washing the body. Tr. 1296-1297, 1309, 1312; R’s Ex. 49 photographs 4, 5.

Respondent’s photograph of a decontamination area at the mechanic shop shows
decontamination equipment contained in a PVVC pipe, soap, paper towels, and water
faucet over a basin, with which, as Mr. Marti Sr. acknowledged, it would be “tough” to
wash the whole body. Tr. 1152-1153, 1307-1309, 1311-1312; R’s Ex. 49 photograph 6.

In the mixing area, there is a water hose with a nozzle that is about three inches in
diameter, that can be adjusted to control the flow of water, and which is used to fill
chemical mixing tanks. Tr. 1313-1314; R’s Ex. 49 photograph 7. The photograph does
not show any soap or a towel, but Mr. Marti, Sr. testified that in the event that workers or
handlers in the field become contaminated with pesticide on more than their face and
hands, supervisors could transport them in the supervisor’s truck to the mixing area and
provide soap and towel for bathing. Tr. 1315-1316, 1318-1319.

Mr. Munoz had not notified Respondent of a lack of showers for bathing when he had
previously conducted an inspection of Coto Laurel on August 20, 2003. Tr. 214.

After the inspection of Coto Laurel on April 26, 2004, Mr. Munoz went to the Jauca
farm, prepared an Affidavit, and requested Mr. Acosta read and sign it. Tr. 178-180,
1726-1728, 1730. Mr. Munoz testified that Mr. Oyola was not authorized to sign
documents, and that Mr. Marti Sr. had a meeting and told Mr. Munoz that Mr. Acosta
was in charge of everything and was authorized to sign documents. Tr. 180-181. The
Affidavit stated, in English:

They [Mr. Munoz, Ms. Larkins and Mr. Layne] found on the Coto
Laurel the following violations: (1) There was no eyeflush for the
handler, (2) There was no shower for the handler, (3) An air
extractor from the pesticides storage fail [sic] to turn on and
another didn’t have electricity. Also Mr. Munoz told me that I had
to improve my training program in order to have more evidence in
who’s trained or not.

C’s Ex. 15 p. 5. Mr. Acosta testified that although the document is in English, he
understood it. Tr. 1726. He signed the Affidavit, he testified, because Mr. Munoz told
him “there wasn’t any problem with me signing it, there wasn’t any type of legal
situation, and I believed him. I assumed that . . . there was something to correct and we
would do it immediately, as we had done before with other inspections and other audits.”
Tr. 1728.

F. Follow-Up to the Jauca Inspection
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63.

64.

65.

66.

On April 29, 2004, Mr. Rivera returned to the Jauca farm to take photographs of pesticide
products, ClearOut and Kocide. C’s Ex. 13 p. 3.

Messrs. Rivera and Munoz conducted a follow-up inspection of Respondent’s Jauca
facility on July 20, 2004 beginning at about 3:30 p.m., after calling Mr. Acosta
approximately a week in advance to schedule the inspection. Tr. 315-317; C’s Ex. 21.
When the inspectors arrived at the facility, they met with Mr. Acosta, and Mr. Rivera
gave him a Notice of Pesticide Use/Misuse Inspection which indicated a possible
violation of the WPS from the inspection on April 26™. Tr. 315-316; C’s Ex. 21 p. 22;
C’s Ex. 21-D p. 110. Mr. Rivera intended to get the complete set of WPS records related
to the April 26™ inspection, and asked Mr. Acosta for the application records of the last
30 days of the Jauca farm, but they were not provided that day. Tr. 316-317, 412, 438.
Mr. Rivera testified that Mr. Acosta indicated to him that it was too late in the day to
photocopy so many records, but that he offered to send the records to the inspectors
thereafter. Tr. 317-318.

During the July 20™ inspection, Mr. Rivera interviewed four or five of Respondent’s
pesticide handlers at the workshop. Tr. 318-319; C’s Ex. 21 p. 3. He testified that the
handlers had equipment with them, and he specifically referred to chemical resistant
overalls and respirators, which appeared to be new. Tr. 319, 399. His “Supplemental
Summary of Findings” dated August 2, 2004 (Inspection Report), stated that the handlers
“all had the personal protective equipment clean and in order.” C’s Ex. 21 p. 3. Mr.
Rivera testified that the handlers did not know how to do a “fit test” to ensure the
respirator face mask makes a seal around the face to protect against pesticide exposure,
so he showed them how to do it. Tr. 320-321.

During the July 20™ inspection, the wooden box in the workshop which had been locked
during the April 26™ inspection was unlocked, and was found not to contain personal
protective equipment at that point. Tr. 324-325; C’s Ex. 21 pp. 15, 16. New lockers for
handlers to store PPE were on the Jauca site during the July 20" inspection. Tr. 326; C’s
Ex. 21 pp. 17, 18. Mr Rivera did not see a separate place for storing clean clothes. Tr.
326. He did not see any face masks or chemical resistant aprons during this inspection.
Tr. 329-330.

On July 20", Mr. Rivera drove his vehicle on the roads at the site, traveling north and
then west, following Mr. Acosta, and Mr. Rivera measured the distance from his
vehicle’s odometer to be 0.6 mile from the decontamination site to the place where he
had interviewed the workers in the Jauca 11 mango field on April 26". Tr. 269, 278,
472-473; C’s Ex. 21. Measuring a straight line from the mango field to the
decontamination site with a ruler on a satellite photograph of the Jauca site, and
calculating by the scale from inches to kilometers, and then converting to miles, the
distance between the two points is a half mile. Tr. 471.
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67.

68.

69.

70.

On or about July 23, 2004, Mr. Acosta provided to Mr. Munoz an electronic copy, on a
disk, of 108 pages of application records entitled “Martex Farms Worker Protection
Standard” (“Application Records”) showing applications of pesticides from March 26"
through April 26, 2004 and they were in turn submitted in electronic form to Mr. Rivera
and Ms. Masters. C’s Exs. 21-B, 21-C; Tr. 331, 427, 498, 506, 600. The Application
Records reflect 151 or more applications of ClearOut, and include the EPA registration
number, active ingredient, and re-entry interval. C’s Exs. 21-B, 21-C; Tr. 601. These
Records include the pesticide handlers’ names, and have some other discrepancies from
the WPS Display Records, such as differences in application times, and in applications of
Kocide appearing on the WPS Display Records but not the Application Records. Tr.
498-500; C’s Ex. 13 p. 19; C’s Ex. 13-C p. 78; C’s Exs. 21-B, 21-C p. 93.

The Application Records list pesticide applications to fields at the Jauca farm as well as
to other farms owned by Respondent, including 29 applications of ClearOut to fields at
Respondent’s other farms. Tr. 1426-1438, 1443-1446; C’s Exs. 21-B, 21-C. Mr. Rivera,
however, believed that the Application Records contained information only for the Jauca
farm. Tr. 506.

Martex has nurseries at the Jauca and Paso Seco farms. Tr. 441-442, 1427. Thereisa
workshop at the Jauca farm, the Rio Canas Farm, and the Coto Laurel farm. Tr. 1430.
There are fence lines at all five of Respondent’s farms. Tr. 1428, 1574. There is a fence
around the Jauca farm and in the mixing area around the operation pond. Tr. 1574.

The Application Records include applications of ClearOut to fence lines and workshops
but do not indicate whether they were at the Jauca farm or Respondent’s other farms,
because Respondent’s employees did not include on the computer records the data of the
particular farm on which the fence lines and workshops were being treated with
herbicide, so the data for spraying fence lines and workshops appeared in application
records for all five of Respondent’s farms. Tr. 1572-1574; C’s Exs. 21-B, 21-C. The
Application Records do not specify which part of fence lines was sprayed. Tr. 1574-
1575.

V1. Discussion, Additional Findings, and Conclusions

A. Respondent’s general defenses

Respondent continues to argue in its Post-Hearing Brief (R’s Brief) at pp. 8-10 defenses

as to liability that have been addressed in previous orders issued in this proceeding, including the
October 4™ Order on accelerated decision and/or October 12" Order on interlocutory review.
Under the doctrine of the “Law of the Case,” the findings of liability remain unchanged in
successive stages of the same litigation unless there are “extraordinary circumstances” such as
where a ruling is “clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice.” Rogers Corporation,
9 E.A.D. 534, 553-554, 2000 EPA App. LEXIS 28 (EAB 2000)(quoting Christianson v. Colt
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Indus. Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 815-816 (1988) and Arizona v. California, 460 U.S. 605,
618 n. 8 (1983)). Respondent has not met this standard in reasserting these arguments with
regard to Counts upon which liability was found on Accelerated Decision. Therefore, the
defenses are not reconsidered here in regard to those Counts.

As to the Counts for which liability was not decided on accelerated decision, the defense
of failure to state a claim is addressed in the discussion below to the extent relevant to the
individual types of violation. Respondent argues that the Complaint has inaccuracies, erroneous
factual allegations, and wrongful application of law, and this has been fully addressed in the
October 12" Order, at pp. 6-7. The argument is addressed below to the extent it is relevant to
various Counts remaining at issue.

As to Respondent’s defense that the Complaint is discriminatory and intended to damage
Respondent’s reputation and well being, it was held in the Order Denying Respondent’s Motion
Requesting Recommendation of In